#### PAPER • OPEN ACCESS

# Design, construction and commissioning of a technological prototype of a highly granular SiPM-on-tile scintillator-steel hadronic calorimeter

To cite this article: A. White et al 2023 JINST 18 P11018

View the article online for updates and enhancements.



### You may also like

- Fast b-tagging at the high-level trigger of the ATLAS experiment in LHC Run 3 G. Aad, B. Abbott, K. Abeling et al.
- Muon identification using multivariate techniques in the CMS experiment in proton-proton collisions at sqrt(s) = 13 TeV A. Hayrapetyan, A. Tumasyan, W. Adam et al.
- <u>Performance of the CMS electromagnetic</u> <u>calorimeter in pp collisions at s = 13 TeV</u> A. Hayrapetyan, A. Tumasyan, W. Adam et al.



This content was downloaded from IP address 141.52.248.1 on 15/10/2024 at 06:42

Published by IOP Publishing for Sissa Medialab

RECEIVED: October 9, 2022 ACCEPTED: January 24, 2023 PUBLISHED: November 22, 2023

# Design, construction and commissioning of a technological prototype of a highly granular SiPM-on-tile scintillator-steel hadronic calorimeter

## The CALICE Collaboration

A. White,<sup>a</sup> J. Yu,<sup>a</sup> G. Eigen,<sup>b</sup> J. Zalieckas,<sup>b</sup> D. Dannheim,<sup>c</sup> K. Elsener,<sup>c</sup> C. Grefe,<sup>c,1</sup> W. Klempt,<sup>c</sup> L. Linssen,<sup>c</sup> A. Sailer,<sup>c</sup> E. Sicking,<sup>c</sup> S. Lai,<sup>d</sup> J. Utehs,<sup>d</sup> A. Wilhahn,<sup>d</sup> O. Bach,<sup>e</sup> E. Brianne,<sup>e</sup> A. Ebrahimi,<sup>e</sup> K. Gadow,<sup>e</sup> P. Göttlicher,<sup>e</sup> O. Hartbrich,<sup>e,2</sup> D. Heuchel,<sup>e</sup> A. Irles.,<sup>e,3</sup> K. Krüger,<sup>e,\*</sup> A. Laudrain,<sup>e</sup> S. Lu,<sup>e</sup> C. Neubüser,<sup>e</sup> A. Provenza,<sup>e</sup> M. Reinecke,<sup>e</sup> F. Sefkow,<sup>e</sup> S. Schuwalow,<sup>e,4</sup> M. De Silva,<sup>e</sup> Y. Sudo,<sup>e</sup> H.L. Tran,<sup>e</sup> E. Buhmann,<sup>f</sup> P. Buhmann, f E. Garutti, f S. Huck, f S. Laurien, f D. Lomidze, f S. Martens, f M. Matysek, f J. Rolph,<sup>f</sup> K. Briggl,<sup>g</sup> P. Eckert,<sup>g</sup> Y. Munwes,<sup>g</sup> H.-Ch. Schultz-Coulon,<sup>g</sup> W. Shen,<sup>g</sup> R. Stamen,<sup>g</sup> K. Kawagoe,<sup>h</sup> M. Kuhara,<sup>h</sup> T. Onoe,<sup>h</sup> T. Suehara,<sup>h</sup> S. Tsumura,<sup>h</sup> T. Yoshioka,<sup>h</sup> M. Wing,<sup>*i*,5</sup> G. Grenier,<sup>*j*</sup> V. Büscher,<sup>*k*</sup> P. Chau,<sup>*k*</sup> S. Krause,<sup>*k*</sup> Y. Liu,<sup>*k*</sup> L. Masetti,<sup>*k*</sup> U. Schäfer,<sup>*k*</sup> S. Tapprogge,<sup>k</sup> R. Wanke,<sup>k</sup> Q. Weitzel,<sup>k</sup> F. Corriveau,<sup>l</sup> B. Freund,<sup>l,6</sup> L. Emberger,<sup>m</sup> M. Gabriel,<sup>m</sup> C. Graf,<sup>m</sup> F. Hummer,<sup>m</sup> K.S. Sasikumar,<sup>m</sup> F. Simon,<sup>m</sup> M. Wagner,<sup>m</sup> H. Windel,<sup>m</sup> S. Bilokin,<sup>n,7</sup> J. Bonis,<sup>n</sup> D. Breton,<sup>n</sup> P. Cornebise,<sup>n</sup> A. Gallas,<sup>n</sup> J. Jeglot,<sup>n</sup> J. Maalmi,<sup>n</sup> R. Pöschl,<sup>n</sup> A. Thiebault,<sup>n</sup> F. Richard,<sup>n</sup> D. Zerwas,<sup>n</sup> S. Callier,<sup>o</sup> F. Dulucq,<sup>o</sup> Ch. de la Taille,<sup>o</sup> G. Martin-Chassard,<sup>o</sup> L. Raux,<sup>o</sup> N. Seguin-Moreau,<sup>o</sup> J. Cvach,<sup>p</sup> M. Janata,<sup>p</sup> M. Kovalcuk,<sup>p</sup> J. Kvasnicka, $p^{,5}$  I. Polak,p J. Smolik,p V. Vrba,p J. Zalesak,p J. Zuklin,p Y. Fujita,q H. Itoh,qI. Kanzaki,<sup>q</sup> K. Kotera,<sup>q,5</sup> T. Takeshita,<sup>q</sup> R. Terada,<sup>q</sup> W. Ootani,<sup>r</sup> L. Liu,<sup>r</sup> R. Masuda,<sup>r</sup> T. Mori,<sup>r</sup> T. Murata,<sup>r</sup> T. Torimaru,<sup>r</sup> N. Tsuji,<sup>r</sup> Y. Ueda,<sup>r</sup> A. Elkhalii,<sup>s</sup> M. Götze,<sup>s</sup> C. Zeitnitz,<sup>s</sup> M. Chadeeva,<sup>t</sup> M. Danilov,<sup>t</sup> E. Popova,<sup>t</sup> V. Rusinov<sup>t</sup> and E. Tarkovsky<sup>t</sup>

<sup>a</sup>Department of Physics, University of Texas at Arlington, SH108, Arlington, TX 76019, U.S.A. <sup>b</sup>Institute of Physics, University of Bergen, Allegaten 55, N-5007 Bergen, Norway <sup>c</sup>CERN, 1211 Genève 23, Switzerland

<sup>2</sup>Now at Oak Ridge National Laboratory, 1 Bethel Valley Road, Oak Ridge, TN 37830, U.S.A.

<sup>3</sup>Now at Instituto de Física Corpuscular, Parque Científico, Catedrático José Beltrán 2, E-46980 Paterna, España
 <sup>4</sup>Deceased.



<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Now at Physikalisches Institut, University of Bonn, Bonn, Germany.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>Also at DESY.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>Also at Argonne National Laboratory.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>Now at IPHC Strasbourg, 23 rue du loess — BP28, 67037 Strasbourg CEDEX 2.

<sup>\*</sup>Corresponding author.

<sup>d</sup>II. Physikalisches Institut, Georg-August-Universität Göttingen, Friedrich-Hund-Platz 1, D-37077 Göttingen, Germany <sup>e</sup>Deutsches Elektronen-Synchrotron DESY, Notkestr. 85, 22607 Hamburg, Germany <sup>f</sup>Physics Department, Institut für Experimentalphysik, University of Hamburg, Luruper Chaussee 149, D-22761 Hamburg, Germany <sup>g</sup>Fakultät für Physik und Astronomie, University of Heidelberg, Albert Überle Str. 3-5 2.0G Ost, D-69120 Heidelberg, Germany <sup>h</sup>Research Center for Advanced Particle Physics, Department of Physics, Kyushu University, 744 Motooka, Nishi-ku, Fukuoka 819-0395, Japan <sup>i</sup>Department of Physics and Astronomy, University College London, Gower Street, London WC1E 6BT, U.K. <sup>j</sup>Université Lyon 1, CNRS/IN2P3, IPN-Lyon, F-69622 Villeurbanne, France <sup>k</sup>Institut für Physik, Universität Mainz, Staudinger Weg 7, D-55099 Mainz, Germany <sup>1</sup>Department of Physics, McGill University, Ernest Rutherford Physics Bldg., 3600 University Ave., H3A 2T8 Montréal, Québec, Canada <sup>m</sup>Max-Planck-Institut für Physik, Föhringer Ring 6, D-80805 Munich, Germany <sup>n</sup>Université Paris-Saclay, CNRS/IN2P3, IJCLab, 91405 Orsay, France <sup>o</sup>Laboratoire OMEGA, École Polytechnique, CNRS/IN2P3, F-91128 Palaiseau, France <sup>P</sup>Institute of Physics, The Czech Academy of Sciences, Na Slovance 2, CZ-18221 Prague 8, Czech Republic <sup>q</sup>Department of Physics, Shinshu University, 3-1-1, Asahi, Matsumoto-shi, Nagano 390-8621, Japan <sup>r</sup> ICEPP, The University of Tokyo, 7-3-1 Hongo, Bunkyo-ku, Tokyo 113-0033, Japan <sup>s</sup>Fakultät 4/Physik, Bergische Universität Wuppertal, Gaussstrasse 20, D-42097 Wuppertal, Germany

<sup>t</sup>Affiliated with an institute that has signed the CALICE MOU

*E-mail:* katja.krueger@desy.de

ABSTRACT: The CALICE collaboration is developing highly granular electromagnetic and hadronic calorimeters for detectors at future energy frontier electron-positron colliders. After successful tests of a physics prototype, a technological prototype of the Analog Hadron Calorimeter has been built, based on a design and construction techniques scalable to a collider detector. The prototype consists of a steel absorber structure and active layers of small scintillator tiles that are individually read out by directly coupled SiPMs. Each layer has an active area of  $72 \times 72$  cm<sup>2</sup> and a tile size of  $3 \times 3$  cm<sup>2</sup>. With 38 active layers, the prototype has nearly 22,000 readout channels, and its total thickness amounts to 4.4 nuclear interaction lengths. The dedicated readout electronics provide time stamping of each hit with an expected resolution of about 1 ns. The prototype was constructed in 2017 and commissioned in beam tests at DESY. It recorded muons, hadron showers and electron showers at different energies in test beams at CERN in 2018. In this paper, the design of the prototype, its construction and commissioning are described. The methods used to calibrate the detector are detailed, and the performance achieved in terms of uniformity and stability is presented.

KEYWORDS: Calorimeters; Detector alignment and calibration methods (lasers, sources, particlebeams); Detector design and construction technologies and materials

ARXIV EPRINT: 2209.15327

# Contents

1	Intr	1	1	
2	Desi	ign of the AHCAL technological p	rototype	2
	2.1	Design considerations		2
	2.2	Active layers	2	4
	2.3	Electronics and data acquisition sy	stem	5
		2.3.1 SPIROC2E readout ASIC	(	5
		2.3.2 Detector InterFace (DIF)	8	8
		2.3.3 Link Data Aggregator (LD	A) 8	8
		2.3.4 Clock and Control Card (C	CCC)	8
		2.3.5 Beam InterFace (BIF)	8	8
	2.4	LED calibration system	8	8
	2.5	Voltage supply and temperature co	mpensation	9
	2.6	Online software	9	9
	2.7	Absorber	10	0
	2.8	Cooling	1:	1
3	3 Construction and quality assurance			1
	3.1	Electronics assembly	12	2
		3.1.1 SiPM tests	12	2
		3.1.2 ASIC tests	13	3
		3.1.3 HBU functional test with I	LEDs 14	4
	3.2	Tile wrapping	14	4
		3.2.1 Tile tests	15	5
	3.3	Tile assembly	15	5
		3.3.1 HBU test with cosmic rays	15	5
4	Asse	embly and commissioning	10	6
	4.1	Module assembly and commission	ing 10	5
	4.2	Prototype assembly and test with c	osmic rays 18	8
5	Cali	ibration	18	8
	5.1	Pedestal and noise	19	9
	5.2	Gain calibration	20	0
	5.3	Gain inter-calibration	21	1
	5.4	MIP calibration	22	2
	5.5	Time calibration	23	3

$\mathbb{N}$
$\bigcirc$
$\mathbb{N}$
ω
Ч
$\vdash$
$\mathbf{r}$
$\vdash$
$\odot$
Ю
$\vdash$
$\bigcirc$
00

6	Test beam experience			
	6.1	Test beam setup at CERN	24	
	6.2	Detector stability	25	
	6.3	Comparison of MIP calibrations	27	
	6.4	Time resolution	28	
	6.5	Event displays	29	
7	7 Conclusion			

#### 1 Introduction

The detailed investigation of the properties of the Higgs boson has been identified as the highest priority for particle physics beyond the exploitation of the potential of the High-Luminosity LHC. The best precision for many observables can be obtained in electron-positron collisions, for which a number of different collider options have been proposed: on the one hand linear colliders, such as the ILC [1], which is under political consideration in Japan, or CLIC [2–5], and on the other hand circular colliders such as FCC-ee [6] or CEPC [7, 8].

For all these projects, the physics goals place stringent requirements on the detector performance. In particular, the jet energy resolution of 3% to 4% for jet energies up to a few hundred GeV, which is needed to distinguish hadronically decaying W and Z bosons, cannot be reached by existing particle physics detectors. It has been demonstrated that the Particle Flow Algorithm (PFA) [9–11] approach to the reconstruction of jets can achieve this goal for typical jets at ILC energies. In the PFA approach, the energy of each individual particle within a jet is reconstructed in the subdetector with the best energy resolution. One important ingredient for a detector designed for PFA are highly granular calorimeters, which allow an efficient assignment of calorimeter energy depositions caused by charged particles to the respective tracks. Miss-assignments, called *confusion*, lead to a deterioration of the jet energy resolution especially at large jet energies.

The CALICE collaboration studies several designs for highly granular calorimeters, for the electromagnetic (ECAL) as well as the hadronic (HCAL) calorimeter. The R&D on most of these designs proceeds in two phases: in the first phase, *physics prototypes* have been built to study the performance reachable with highly granular calorimeters. In the second phase, *technological prototypes* focus on engineering and integration solutions needed to include such a calorimeter in a collider detector.

The technological prototype for the analog hadron calorimeter (AHCAL) described in this document is a high granularity sampling calorimeter based on steel absorber and small scintillator tiles, read out individually by silicon photomultipliers (SiPMs) directly coupled to the tiles. This concept has first been studied with the AHCAL physics prototype [12]. The calorimeter endcap upgrade of the CMS experiment for the High-Luminosity LHC, the High-Granularity Calorimeter (HGCAL) [13], incorporates a design following the AHCAL concept in its backward part, where radiation levels allow the use of SiPMs.

#### 2 Design of the AHCAL technological prototype

The design of the AHCAL technological prototype described here is inspired by the calorimeter layout of the International Large Detector concept (ILD) [14–16]. Similar calorimeter concepts are discussed for SiD [15, 17], the Silicon Detector for ILC, and for CLICdet [18, 19], the detector model for CLIC, as well as for detector concepts at future circular electron-positron colliders. The energies of particles reaching the calorimeter typically range from about 1 GeV up to several hundred GeV. Most of them are expected to have energies in the lower part of this range. The AHCAL is constructed as a sampling calorimeter consisting of steel absorber plates and scintillator tiles as the active medium. The scintillator tiles are read out by SiPMs directly coupled to the tiles. This concept is different from most existing tile calorimeters which are read out via long fibers. It allows the integration of both the photosensors and the front-end electronics into the detector volume, making the high granularity required for particle flow methods realizable with scintillators in a very compact and cost-effective way.

The feasibility of a highly granular scintillator calorimeter concept has been demonstrated with the AHCAL physics prototype [12]. With this cubic-metre sized prototype, the energy resolution for electrons [20] as well as hadrons [21] has been measured, and the detailed structure of hadronic showers [22–25] has been studied. The separation power for two close-by hadron showers, an important ingredient for particle flow algorithms, has been demonstrated [26]. The prototype was also successfully tested with tungsten absorbers [27, 28]. A consistent hadronic energy resolution has been obtained for a setup with a highly granular scintillator-tungsten electromagnetic calorimeter in front of the AHCAL [29]. An overview of the results can be found in [30].

The focus for the design of the AHCAL technological prototype lies on the viability of the concept for a full collider detector: the scalability of the detector layout, taking into account realistic space constraints in a large particle physics detector, the scalability of the production methods, the reliable operation of a large detector and the feasibility of the calibration procedures for a large amount of readout channels. In contrast to the physics prototype, the AHCAL technological prototype also provides information on the time-of-arrival of each hit with an expected resolution of the order of 1 ns. First studies of the time evolution of hadronic showers have been performed earlier with a small number of scintillator tiles installed behind a large hadron calorimeter prototype [31]. They confirmed the expectation that a time resolution of the order of 1 ns gives access to processes developing on different time scales within hadronic showers. The availability of the time information for all channels in a hadron calorimeter prototype opens the way for detailed investigations of hadronic shower shapes and tests of simulation models not only in space and energy, but also time, and to explore the use of detailed time information in the event reconstruction.

#### 2.1 Design considerations

The segmentation of the detector is driven mainly by two considerations: the ability to distinguish the energy depositions of close-by neutral and charged hadrons to minimise confusion in the particle flow reconstruction, and the goal to resolve electromagnetic sub-showers in hadron showers for the application of software compensation algorithms. Both require a longitudinal segmentation of the order of one radiation length  $X_0$  and a transverse segmentation of a size similar to the Molière radius. Detailed simulation studies of di-jet events in ILD have shown that for a scintillator-steel hadron calorimeter a transverse tile dimension of  $3 \times 3 \text{ cm}^2$  allows a significant improvement of the jet energy resolution by applying software compensation techniques, and that this tile size is an optimal choice considering performance and overall detector channel count [32]. These studies have also shown that a larger tile size of  $6 \times 6 \text{ cm}^2$  in the rear part of the calorimeter could reduce the channel count with only a modest impact on the jet energy resolution.

For the absorber material, non-magnetic stainless steel offers favourable mechanical properties like rigidity and ease of machining, such that a self-supporting structure without auxiliary supports (dead regions) can be realised. Moreover, in contrast to heavier materials, iron has a moderate ratio of hadronic interaction length to electromagnetic radiation length. This allows a fine longitudinal sampling in terms of  $X_0$  with a reasonable number of layers in a given total hadronic absorption length. These considerations lead to a choice of 1.7 cm thick non-magnetic stainless steel absorber layers, corresponding to roughly 1 radiation length or 0.1 interaction length.

In order to ease production and assembly, the layout of the active layers is modular. The basic unit is the HCAL Base Unit (HBU) with a size of  $36 \times 36 \text{ cm}^2$ , containing 144 tiles. Up to six of them can be connected in a row to form a *slab*. An active layer is formed by up to three slabs, served by a common set of interface boards providing the connection to power supplies and the Data Acquisition (DAQ) system. This design allows an efficient covering of the different widths of active layers in the barrel sectors of a collider detector (see figure 1) with only a small number of additional, narrower HBU sizes [33]. The slabs are contained in individual cassettes for mechanical protection.



Figure 1. Schematic view of an ILD barrel sector.

For the AHCAL technological prototype, the active layers consist of four HBUs. These are mounted in *modules* formed by two slabs of two HBUs each. They are installed in an absorber

structure which has a wedge shape similar to the shape of a sector in the ILD barrel. The active layer size of  $72 \times 72$  cm<sup>2</sup> is smaller than for the AHCAL physics prototype with a lateral size of  $90 \times 90$  cm<sup>2</sup>, leading to a slightly larger lateral leakage for hadron showers.

#### 2.2 Active layers

The active material of the AHCAL technological prototype consists of injection-moulded polystyrene scintillator tiles with a size of  $3 \times 3 \text{ cm}^2$  and a thickness of 3 mm. The injection moulding technique is scalable and cost-effective, making it an attractive choice even though the light output is of the order of 30% less than for cast scintillator. No further machining or polishing of the tiles is necessary. A small dimple in the center of the tile (see figure 2(a)) houses the SiPM. This geometry allows the mounting of the SiPM directly onto the electronics boards with standard PCB assembly techniques. A tile design with the SiPM directly coupled to the scintillator tile was originally proposed in [34] and subsequently varied and optimised in further studies [35, 36]. The signal non-uniformity within a tile and the effects of misalignment of the SiPM with respect to the dimple were found to be small for realistic misalignments [37]. The tiles are individually wrapped in 3M ESR [38] reflective foil (see section 3.2), leading to negligible optical cross talk between the tiles.



**Figure 2.** (a) Photo of SiPMs on an HBU, two of them with bare (top left) and wrapped (top right) scintillator tiles. (b) Schematic view of the cross section of an active layer.

The system of scintillator tile, reflective foil wrapping and SiPM determines the response of the detector to minimum ionising particles (MIPs). The scintillator material and thickness as well as the SiPM properties are chosen such that the smallest relevant physics signal, given by the energy deposition of a MIP, can be detected with high efficiency, without being too sensitive to SiPM noise. For the design signal size of around 15 fired pixels per MIP, a threshold of 0.5 MIP corresponds to 95% or more MIP detection efficiency and leads to a very strong suppression of SiPM noise. The current generation of SiPMs with trenches between pixels has a very low inter-pixel cross talk probability of the order of a few percent, leading to a practically noise-free detector for thresholds as low as 0.25 to 0.3 MIP. The total number of pixels of the SiPM determines the maximum energy deposition that can be measured. The saturation of the SiPM due to the finite number of pixels leads to a strongly non-linear behaviour at large amplitudes. In order to measure the expected maximum hit energy of a few hundred MIPs in hadron showers in the ILC energy range, the SiPMs should have of the order of 3,000 pixels. In addition to these physics considerations, the SiPM properties have

to match the characteristics of the readout ASICs. After a tendering process, Hamamatsu MPPCs of type S13360-1325PE [39] have been selected. They have a size of  $1.3 \times 1.3 \text{ mm}^2$ , with 2668 pixels with a pitch of 25 µm. Their breakdown voltage is around 53 V, and they are operated at 5 V overvoltage, resulting typically in a photodetection efficiency of 25% and a gain of  $7 \times 10^5$ . They offer a low dark count rate (of the order of 100 kHz), very small cross talk (1%) and a small temperature sensitivity (54 mV/K). They have been ordered in batches of 600 devices with breakdown voltages within ±100 mV, allowing all SiPMs on one module to be operated with the same bias voltage.

The 144 scintillator tiles and SiPMs are mounted on the top side of the HBU, while 4 SPIROC2E [40] readout ASICs as well as other electronics components are located on the bottom side. These include a calibration system with one LED per channel. A thin polyimide foil (125  $\mu$ m thickness) provides the electrical insulation between the PCB and the cassette. A schematic cross section of an active layer is shown in figure 2(b). Figure 3 shows photos of the top and bottom sides of a fully assembled HBU.



Figure 3. HBU seen from (a) the top and (b) the bottom.

The electrical connections between the HBUs as well as to the interface board within a slab are realised with very thin flex-leads. One of the slabs has a Central Interface Board (CIB) with active mezzanines (section 2.3), while the other has a passive Side Interface Board (SIB). The slabs are connected with each other with larger flexible connections.

In total 38 modules with  $3 \times 3 \text{ cm}^2$  scintillator tiles were constructed. In addition, one module with  $6 \times 6 \text{ cm}^2$  tiles was built. In order to be able to use the same PCBs for the HBUs with  $6 \times 6 \text{ cm}^2$  tiles, the dimples of those larger tiles are not in their centre, but moved to coincide with one of the nominal SiPM positions on the HBU. The lower light output of the larger tiles is compensated by using larger SiPMs.  $2 \times 2 \text{ mm}^2$  SiPMs are built by an array of four Hamamatsu TSV MPPC S13615-1025 [41], which have otherwise the same properties (photodetection efficiency, gain, breakdown voltage) as the S13360-1325PE MPPCs.

#### 2.3 Electronics and data acquisition system

The readout electronics of the AHCAL technological prototype is based on common CALICE developments [42]. It follows a hierarchical structure as illustrated in figure 4(a).

Up to 36 SiPM channels are read out by one SPIROC2E ASIC. The communication of all ASICs within a layer is handled by the Detector InterFace (DIF) board, while the POWER board handles the power supplies for the complete layer, and the calibration (CALIB) board handles the LED calibration system. These three boards are realised as mezzanines carried by the Central Interface Board (CIB). The data of up to 96 layers is aggregated by Link Data Aggregators (LDAs) and sent to a PC running the DAQ software. The LDAs also receive commands from the PC as well as from the Clock and Control Card (CCC) and distribute them to the DIFs. A common 40 MHz clock ensuring the synchronisation of all detector parts is provided by the CCC.



**Figure 4.** (a) Sketch of the hierarchical structure of the DAQ system. (b) Example of sustained event rates obtained for different particle types during the May 2018 beam test.

Even though the readout ASICs are integrated in the detector volume, no active cooling is foreseen there, in order to avoid dead regions in the detector and keep the material as homogeneous as possible. Therefore, the power consumption is strongly limited, with a design goal of 40  $\mu$ W per channel, of which 25  $\mu$ W are allocated to the readout ASIC. This goal can only be reached by adapting the readout electronics to the low duty cycle of a linear electron-positron collider. In their beam structure, short bunch trains (1 ms long for ILC) are interleaved with long gaps without particles (199 ms long for ILC). This is taken into account in the readout electronics by having two phases: a data acquisition phase in which the ASICs are acquiring and storing the data, and a readout phase in which the data are digitised and sent from the ASICs via the LDAs to the PC. During the readout phase, all non-necessary components of the ASIC can be switched off (*power pulsing*). The synchronisation of the phases between all ASICs can be ensured by a SPILL signal centrally provided by the CCC, or by a BUSY signal generated by the ASICs.

#### 2.3.1 SPIROC2E readout ASIC

The SPIROC2E [40] is a dedicated very front-end ASIC for SiPMs in calorimetric measurements, developed by the OMEGA group, realised in AMS SiGe 0.35µm technology. It features a large dynamic range, low noise, low power consumption and high precision for the amplitude measurement.

It has 36 channels with variable gains to achieve charge and time measurements. Each channel embeds an input DAC to tune the SiPM bias voltage, by subtracting the channel-wise adjustable value from the globally supplied bias voltage. The tuning range can be chosen in slow control settings to reach either up to 2.5 V or up to 4.5 V The ASIC is optimised for charge measurements in the range of 1 up to  $\sim 3,000$  photo-electrons, corresponding to 160 fC up to 480 pC at a SiPM gain of about  $10^6$ . For each of the 36 channels, two input preamplifiers, for a high gain and a low gain measurement, are needed to handle the required large dynamic range. Both are followed by variable slow shapers, for which a shaping time of 50 ns was chosen. The high gain preamplifier is in addition connected to a trigger line with a fast shaper and a discriminator, providing channel-wise self-triggering for thresholds as low as 50 fC (1/3 of a photo-electron). If one channel triggers, the data for all channels of this ASIC are kept.

The time measurement is performed with a coarse 16-bit counter related to the bunch crossing clock and a fine time ramp based on this clock. The ramp has alternating directions from one bunch crossing to the next to avoid dead time connected with a ramp reset. The bunch crossing clock can be chosen between 250 kHz and 5 MHz. The time resolution depends on the bunch clock, and is expected to reach 1 ns with a 5 MHz bunch clock. For low data rates also the data taking efficiency depends on the bunch clock, since the data acquisition should be stopped and the detector be read out when the bunch crossing counter overruns. In order to optimise data taking efficiency, the AHCAL prototype has been operated with a 250 kHz bunch clock during the beam tests so far, except for a few test runs.

An analog memory array with a depth of 16 cells for each channel is used to store the time information and the charge measurement. If all 16 *memory cells* are filled, the ASIC provides a BUSY signal via the LDA to the CCC. This is used to stop the data acquisition phase and switch to the readout phase for all channels of the detector. In addition, the length of the acquisition phase is limited by a time-out to avoid decay of the analog signals in the memory cells and an overrunning of the bunch clock counter. For AHCAL operation this time-out is typically set to ~15ms.

In the readout phase, the analog memory content is digitised with an internal 12-bit Wilkinson Analog-to-Digital Converter (ADC) and stored in a RAM. Out of the three measurements per channel (high gain, low gain and time), only two can be digitised and read out. The standard operation mode for beam tests was the *auto-gain* mode in which the ASIC provides the time measurement, and one of the two charge measurements, depending on the signal amplitude. Dedicated runs where both charge measurements (and no time information) have been read out are used to determine the inter-calibration between the two gain modes.

In addition to the self-triggered mode, the SPIROC2E ASIC can also operate in a mode where the signal is sampled with a fixed delay with respect to an external trigger signal. This mode is used for the calibration with LED signals.

The SPIROC2E ASIC is optimised for low power consumption. Its actual value depends on the time periods for which the ASIC components are switched on, including a short period before the expected arrival of events to allow the ASIC to stabilise. For optimised timing settings, the power consumption in ILC mode has been measured to be about  $100 \,\mu\text{W}$  [43], about a factor of four higher than the design goal. In future SPIROC versions, the power consumption can be reduced by digitizing and reading only the data of triggering channels.

#### 2.3.2 Detector InterFace (DIF)

The DIF [44] is based on a Zynq-7020 [45] SystemOnChip (SoC). It can handle the communication of up to 72 readout ASICs, the maximum foreseen in a layer in the ILD barrel, consisting of three parallel slabs of up to six HBUs. All ASICs in a slab are read out via two parallel readout chains, leading to up to six readout chains per DIF. The DIF generates the slower bunch clock from the central 40 MHz clock. The CIB, on which the DIF sits as a mezzanine, provides the connection to the central slab and an HDMI connector for the connection to the LDA. In addition, a single HBU can be operated without CCC and LDA via a direct USB connection from the CIB to the DAQ PC, allowing for easy tests in the lab. Additional slabs on the left and right can be connected with passive SIBs to the CIB.

#### 2.3.3 Link Data Aggregator (LDA)

The LDA is also based on the Zynq 7020 SoC. It is available in two versions: the mini-LDA and the wing-LDA. The mini-LDA is realised as a dedicated mezzanine board for the ZedBoard, a commercially available development board for the Zynq. It has HDMI connectors for up to 10 DIFs and has been used in many beam tests with smaller setups. The wing-LDA has been designed with the geometry of the ILD barrel sectors in mind. It has two times 48 micro-HDMI connectors to handle two barrel sectors. It is realised as three passive boards, hosting the micro-HDMI connectors, connected to an active central board. The active central board has a slot for a Mars ZX3 module holding a Zynq 7020, and four slave Xilinx Kintex-7 [46] FPGAs for an efficient aggregation of the data volume. In the beam tests of the AHCAL technological prototype, the wing-LDA with only two passive boards and equipped with only two FPGAs has been used. In this configuration it can handle up to 48 layers. Both LDA versions have an HDMI connector for the communication with a CCC.

#### 2.3.4 Clock and Control Card (CCC)

The CCC is based on the ZedBoard, which is extended with a dedicated mezzanine board with three HDMI connectors for the communication with LDAs and two LEMO connectors for externally provided SPILL and clock signals. In the beam tests, the CCC was used to generate the common 40 MHz clock and to distribute the clock and the SPILL signal to one or two LDAs. The operation of up to eight LDAs can be achieved with a fan-out.

#### 2.3.5 Beam InterFace (BIF)

The BIF is based on the prototype of an AIDA mini-TLU [47, 48], which provides a simple and flexible interface for fast timing and triggering signals. It receives the 40 MHz clock from the CCC on a LEMO connector, and the start and stop signals of the AHCAL data acquisition phases on a RJ45 connector. The timestamps of up to four external signals provided on LEMO connectors can be recorded with a precision of  $\sim 1$  ns.

#### 2.4 LED calibration system

Due to the sensitivity of the SiPMs to changes of the operating temperature and the bias voltage, a gain calibration and monitoring system is necessary. The calibration system takes advantage of the property of the SiPMs to show a characteristic single pixel spectrum (SPS) at low light-intensities.

This allows monitoring of the readout response to a well-defined signal, corresponding to one fired SiPM pixel, without the need to know the injected light intensity. This makes the calibration system also insensitive to possible changes of light intensity due to ageing of components. The HBUs house one LED per tile, producing the necessary light for calibration. The required fast driving pulses are transmitted electrically from the CALIB board to LED drivers on the HBU. When the calibration system is in idle-state, a capacitor is charged to the calibration bias voltage via a large resistor. Upon a LED trigger, a short pulse opens a transistor, and a current corresponding to the stored charge on the capacitor flows through the LED. This LED driver circuit guarantees a fast fall time of the optical pulse by a fast discharge of the LED's cathode node. The resulting optical pulse shapes have excellent small widths below 10 ns [49]. The LED amplitude can be controlled by the calibration bias voltage.

#### 2.5 Voltage supply and temperature compensation

The regulation of the low voltage for the ASIC power supply, the high voltage for the SiPM bias supply and the voltage for the LED calibration bias supply are performed on the POWER board. External supplies of 4.5 V (ASIC), 12 V (LED) and a bias voltage of at least 10 V above the desired operating voltage of the SiPMs are needed. In the beam tests of the AHCAL technological prototype, these have been provided by MPOD power supply modules [50]. The cables between the POWER boards and a cable distribution box were grouped by layer, while they were grouped by voltage between the cable distribution box and the MPODs. Here cables with a length of about 6 m, corresponding to the expected length inside ILD, were used.

The POWER board provides up to 3 different SiPM bias voltages to a layer. They can be controlled by the LabView DAQ software within a range of  $\sim 4 \text{ V}$  with a precision of  $\sim 40 \text{ mV}$ . In order to compensate for changes of the SiPM breakdown voltage caused by temperature variations, and thus keep their overvoltage constant, the SiPM bias voltage can be adjusted automatically according to the average temperature measured by up to six temperature sensors within a layer. This procedure has been set up with the measured mean dependence of the breakdown voltage on the temperature (section 3.1.1). During the beam tests, it was set to run at every run start, and in fixed time intervals between ten minutes and one hour.

#### 2.6 Online software

The dedicated DAQ and control software for the AHCAL technological prototype is based on LabView. It provides not only the fast commands for the data taking, but also the functionality for the configuration of the readout ASICs, the LDAs and the LED calibration system. This software has been interfaced to EUDAQ2 [51], allowing easy integration with other devices (e.g. beam instrumentation such as wire chambers or beam telescopes) and user-friendly operation for non-experts.

In the EUDAQ2 *Producer* for the AHCAL technological prototype, several methods for event building have been implemented. Within the AHCAL, the synchronisation of the self-triggered hits is based on the *bunch crossing ID* (BXID), the cycle number of the slow bunch clock. Synchronisation with other detectors can be achieved with the help of a time stamp with 25 ns resolution or a trigger number. For this purpose, an external trigger signal, e.g. from a trigger scintillator, can be supplied to the AHCAL DAQ hardware.

The synchronisation with other detectors and the data storage was handled by EUDAQ2 *Data Collectors*. The data were stored in a raw data format, and as LCIO [52] files for analysis. To reduce the data volume, pure noise events were suppressed in the LCIO file by storing only data for BXIDs with an external trigger signal. However, in the raw files all data were kept, such that a later re-creation of the LCIO files was possible.

The readout speed depends strongly on the event size, which varies in self-triggered events due to the online zero-suppression. For the configuration with 38 modules, the typical sustained event rate was between 120 and 400 electron or pion showers per second, reaching up to 600 events per second for muons. An example of event rates obtained during the beam spills in the data taking in May 2018 is shown in figure 4(b). For LED calibration data, where all channels need to be read out, the online conversion to LCIO turned out to be a bottleneck. Therefore, these events were first stored only in raw data format and afterwards converted to LCIO. Nevertheless, the rate was limited to about 80 LED triggers per second. Typical sizes for one event in raw (LCIO) data format were 7–10 kB (3–5 kB) for muons, 10–17 kB (3–11 kB) for electrons and 28 kB (18 kB) for 100 GeV pion showers.

During the beam tests, several methods for data monitoring were used. A very first cross check was provided by the LabView DAQ program, which shows event rates and raw data information per ASIC. EUDAQ2 also provides a simple online monitor, which was used to display hit positions in the layers and monitor the beam position. DQM4HEP [53] was used to monitor event quantities, based on the directly written LCIO files. The most sophisticated monitoring was based on fully reconstructed data (with a preliminary calibration determined during the commissioning of the detector), with a dedicated program showing pre-defined histograms, and with an event display. This information could be accessed, based on partial files, already during the run, and was typically available within a few minutes after the run end for a complete run.

#### 2.7 Absorber

In a collider detector, the total depth of the calorimeter has to take into account the requirement to fit inside the diameter of the solenoid coil within the detector as well as the need to minimise longitudinal leakage. For ILD, the optimisation for jet energies up to 250 GeV leads to 48 AHCAL layers in the barrel section, corresponding to 6 interaction lengths for electromagnetic and hadronic calorimeters together [15]. The absorber of the AHCAL technological prototype (figure 5) is a self-supporting non-magnetic stainless steel structure with 44 layers with a thickness of 16 mm, corresponding to the inner part of the ILD barrel. Equipped with 38 active layers, it covers 4.4 nuclear interaction lengths. Therefore, at higher hadron energies, longitudinal leakage is expected to play a role, leading to a reduced reconstructed energy as well as a degradation in energy resolution, if no tail catcher is present to recover the leaked part of the shower.

The absorber structure has been produced from standard rolled plates, which had undergone a cost-effective roller-levelling procedure, ensuring a flatness of  $\pm 1$  mm demonstrated over an area of  $2 \times 2 \text{ m}^2$ . It is supported only by 5 mm thick side panels without additional spacers, such that the gaps can be filled completely with active elements. The absorber structure was produced as a mechanical test structure [54]. In order to maximise the thickness of the calorimeter in terms of hadronic interaction length in the volume given by the solenoid coil, the thickness of the active layers is kept as small as possible. Their total thickness of 0.5 mm on both sides. In order to facilitate the installation



**Figure 5.** Schematic view of the testbeam setup of the AHCAL technological prototype. The absorber structure is shown in red (absorber plates) and yellow (connecting plate ensuring the distance between the absorber plates). The green parts correspond to the Central and Side Interface Boards of the active layers, and the orange parts to cooling plates and pipes. A support structure for DAQ boards and cables is indicated in grey.

also of slightly too thick active layers in the prototype, the gap size of the absorber structure has been chosen conservatively as 8.7 mm. Since no problems with the thickness of the active layers and their installation in the absorber structure was observed, a more aggressive design could be chosen in future.

#### 2.8 Cooling

The AHCAL technological prototype has no active cooling within the active layers, which is possible thanks to the very low power consumption of the SPIROC2E ASICs. The interface boards, however, need cooling. For this, in ILD a leakless cooling system is foreseen, with a pipe mounted on the absorber on the back side of the interface boards (see figure 2(b)). For the AHCAL prototype, a more flexible solution has been chosen, based on over-pressure, and with separate cooling plates made from copper. They are mounted on the absorber, thermally decoupled by  $\sim 1 \text{ cm}$  thick plastic bars. The cooling plates are connected to the most relevant heat sources on the interface boards with thermally conducting pads. Flexible tubes connect the cooling plates to common inlet and outlet pipes. The dimensions of the pipes are chosen to resemble the ILD design. The pipes are then connected by hoses to an external cooling unit, which runs with nominal settings of 1 bar and 20 °C. The cooling system worked reliably during the beam tests, keeping the interface boards below 45 °C.

#### **3** Construction and quality assurance

The construction and quality assurance procedures for the AHCAL technological prototype have been developed for scalability and mass production. Many steps follow standard procedures available

in industry. The discussion here covers mainly the steps that include procedures developed for this prototype: the quality assurance of SiPMs and ASICs as well as electrically assembled HBUs (before tile assembly), the wrapping of scintillator tiles into reflective foil including tests of the wrapped tiles, and the assembly of the wrapped tiles on the HBU PCBs. Similar to most particle physics detectors, the construction and quality assurance were distributed over several sites: the electronics assembly of the HBU PCBs took place at DESY, after SiPM tests at the University of Heidelberg and ASIC tests at the University of Wuppertal. The scintillator tiles have been produced in Vladimir by the industrial partner Uniplast [55] in cooperation with LPI and MEPhI. The tile wrapping and testing were performed at the University of Hamburg, the tile assembly on the HBUs and their tests with cosmic rays at the University of Mainz. The modules were assembled, commissioned and integrated into the prototype (see section 4) at DESY, before the prototype was shipped to CERN for the beam tests. MPP Munich provided strong support for the calibration and analysis software.

All the HBUs with  $3 \times 3 \text{ cm}^2$  scintillator tiles were constructed according to the described procedures. The four HBUs with  $6 \times 6 \text{ cm}^2$  tiles were assembled manually at the University of Tokyo.

#### 3.1 Electronics assembly

All the electronics components on the HBU PCBs are assembled with standard pick-and-place and reflow soldering techniques. In a first step, the SiPMs are mounted and soldered on the bottom side. Then all the other components including the ASICs are mounted and soldered on the other side. As detailed below, for the SiPMs sample checks have been performed for each batch. All the ASICs have been tested and characterised before assembly. After the electronics assembly, a functional test of the HBU is done with the help of the LED system, which allows for a direct verification of each channel's signal quality from the observation of Single Pixel Spectra (SPS). The electronics assembly was done for a total of 160 HBUs.

#### 3.1.1 SiPM tests

Since many commercial SiPMs have good quality, and the testing of the SiPMs poses a risk of damaging them, we decided to test only small samples of the SiPMs, which were then not used in the detector. Of each batch of 600 SiPMs with the same bias voltage within  $\pm 100 \text{ mV}$ , 576 devices are needed for a module. These batches were delivered on reels for the pick-and-place machine, which discards a few devices at the beginning of the reel. We therefore decided to test 16 SiPMs for each of the 40 batches. For technical reasons, in two of the batches, only 12 and 15 devices were tested.

The setup used for the SiPM test was originally designed for tests of scintillator tiles with a SiPM coupled to their side, and has been modified for the measurement of surface-mount SiPMs [56]. To achieve a large through-put, the system relies on the parallelised measurement of 12 SiPMs using a pulsed laser source, which allows acquiring sufficient statistics for the characterisation and the measurement of parameter spreads at a rate of  $\sim 10$  seconds per SiPM. It consists of a laser head with 12 fibres, and a base plate that can hold up to 144 SiPMs. The SiPMs are read out with 12 KLauS2 [57] ASICs, whose signals are multiplexed and sent to a 12-channel ADC. The tests were made in a temperature-controlled environment at 25 °C.

The measurements [58] comprise the breakdown voltage, the dark count rate, the cross talk and the gain for all devices. The temperature dependence of the breakdown voltage was determined only

for a sub-sample, since it is a very time consuming measurement. Out of the 40 batches, 5 showed one outlier outside of the required 200 mV window for the breakdown voltage. The maximum window size containing all breakdown voltages of a batch was 270 mV. At 5 V overvoltage, the average dark count rate was measured to be 74 kHz, in agreement with the data sheet and well below our requirement of less than 500 kHz. The cross talk was on average 4%, but due to a rather long integration window this number might also contain after-pulses. The average gain was determined as  $6.2 \times 10^5$ , with a device to device spread of 2.4%. Within a batch, the average gain spread was 1.8%. The average temperature dependence of the breakdown voltage was found to be 54.4 mV/K (see figure 6(a)), leading to an expected gain change of about 1 %/K at 5 V overvoltage. The spread of the temperature dependence is small (2.2 mV/K) which is crucial for a common temperature compensation with the SiPM bias voltage of all channels in a layer. Due to the low dark count rate we decided to tolerate the cross talk rate, which is slightly higher than our original requirement of less than 3%. All batches passed the acceptance criteria.



**Figure 6.** (a) Distribution of the temperature coefficient for breakdown voltages, measured for a sub-sample of the SiPMs during the quality assurance tests. (b) Examples of the dependence of the amplitude on injected charge measured in self-triggered mode during the ASICs tests; the colours correspond to the three settings of the preamplifier feedback capacitors in high gain and low gain mode used for the characterization of the ASICs.

#### 3.1.2 ASIC tests

From previous productions, a yield of 80 – 90% was expected for the ASICs. Since they are central for a fully functional and reliable detector, all ASICs were tested and characterised before assembly. In order to test the SPIROC2E ASIC in an environment as similar as possible to the HBU, a test board has been designed that closely resembles a quarter of an HBU. The ASIC under test is inserted into a dedicated test socket for the BGA-372 package of the SPIROC2E. The test board provides a connector for the measurement of the input DACs. The input of an external pulse generator can be injected via a LEMO connector, and distributed to all 36 channels of the ASIC via amplifiers that can be individually enabled or disabled by jumpers. Since the ASIC is very sensitive to the shape of the input pulse, the test board is also equipped with 8 SiPMs that can be used to provide a real SiPM signal. For ASIC configuration and readout, the test board is connected to a set of interface boards (CIB, DIF, POWER, CALIB), which are steered from a mini-LDA and a CCC. The measurement of the input DACs was performed with an Embedded Local Monitor Board (ELMB) [59], which has

originally been designed for the ATLAS experiment. For the tests, a dedicated LabView program was used that was derived from the AHCAL DAQ software.

Around 850 ASICs have been tested. Most measurements were performed for three settings of the preamplifier feedback capacitors of 100 fF, 200 fF and 600 fF, the setting foreseen for beam operation. The following measurements were performed:

- Input DACs: the linearity of the 8-bit input DACs for the channel-wise adjustment of the SiPM bias voltage was tested for six values in the full range between 0 and 255.
- Hold Scan: for a fixed injected charge of 3 pC, the optimal hold times for the three preamplifier settings were determined both in external and in self-triggered modes.
- Amplitude Linearity: the amplitude linearity was measured for the three preamplifier settings. In external trigger mode, 9 injected charges between 1 pC and 17 pC were used, while in self-triggered mode, 15 injected charges between 1 pC and 15 pC were used. An example is shown in figure 6(b).
- TDC Ramp: the full range of the rising and the falling ramp of the TDC was explored by measuring a fixed injected charge of 1 pC for twelve delays between 0  $\mu$ s and 8  $\mu$ s. This measurement was done only for a preamplifier capacitance of 200 fF.

The time needed to perform all tests for one ASIC was about 10 minutes. Only ASICs with all 36 channels working were accepted for assembly. The resulting yield was 89%, in agreement with expectations for such a complex ASIC with analog and digital elements.

#### 3.1.3 HBU functional test with LEDs

Once the electronics assembly is done, a functional test of the HBU can be done with the help of the LED system. For this the HBU is placed with the SiPMs facing a reflective surface and connected to the standard DAQ chain. This tests the complete signal chain, but does not yet allow a calibration, since the light output is not defined without the tiles. The test has been performed for all HBUs, and a few problems were spotted. Two bad HBUs were identified which have a short within the PCB that was impossible to repair. This led to only 38 modules being assembled in the end instead of the 40 we had originally planned. On the 158 working HBUs, in total one dead channel (out of 22, 752 channels) was found.

#### 3.2 Tile wrapping

Individual wrapping of the tiles provides the best optical decoupling between neighbouring scintillator tiles, but requires a (semi-)automatic procedure for the cutting of the reflector and the wrapping due to the large number of tiles. We chose ESR foil produced by 3M reflector because it leads to a high light output of the tiles, but the high reflectivity is challenging for many optical instruments.

The cutting of the reflective foil was performed with a laser cutter. In addition to the cutting of the foil outline, the folding lines were "scratched" on the outside with reduced laser power. This simplifies the folding during the wrapping procedure, but the depth of the scratch is very sensitive to environmental conditions. The cutting took about 9 minutes per sheet of 25 cut foil pieces.

For the wrapping, a dedicated machine was developed, with a carousel for foil supply, stepper motors for the wrapping process, and vacuum cups for the transport of the components. In order to be accepted by the pick-and-place machine, the tiles including wrapping must have a well-defined maximum size with tolerance below 100  $\mu$ m. The wrapping machine has to ensure that the tightness of the wrapping foil is compatible with this requirement. A speed of slightly less than a minute per tile was reached.

#### 3.2.1 Tile tests

Since the tile wrapping process does not work if the tiles are not within tight mechanical tolerances of  $\pm 50 \,\mu$ m, the size was measured with a caliper for a sub-sample of the tiles before the wrapping. In the later assembly of the tiles, the size is checked optically by the pick-and-place machine. Since a bulging of the foil can influence the visible size of the wrapped tile, the QA check of the wrapped tile was not done with a caliper, but also optically. The size was determined with a commercial document scanner, using half an integrating sphere to ensure uniform illumination. The outline of the tile in the scanned image was found with the minimum bounding rectangle search in the ImageJ Shape Filter Plugin [60]. In addition, spot checks of the light output of the wrapped tiles were performed with a <sup>90</sup>Sr source. For a small sub-sample of the production tiles, detailed studies of the response uniformity were performed.

#### 3.3 Tile assembly

The wrapped tiles were glued to the HBU PCBs with Araldite 2011 two-component epoxy adhesive. The number, position and size of the glue dots was optimised, resulting in 8 glue points per tile. The glue was applied to the PCB with the help of a screen printer and a pump printing stencil which protects the SiPMs. The distribution of the glue needed only a few minutes per HBU, but the cleaning of the screen took a considerable amount of time (more than an hour).

The tiles were placed on the HBU PCBs with a commercial pick-and-place machine. Most of the wrapped tiles were fed to the machine on reels. Special tiles with cut-outs for mechanical cassette fixtures (6 per HBU) were supplied on trays. The machine was operated in the slowest mode, yielding the highest precision. This resulted in an assembly time of 7 minutes per HBU. Within the pot life of the glue of about 100 minutes, the tiles on 4 HBUs, corresponding to one module, were assembled. The glue was left for curing over night. Afterwards, the HBUs were installed in a cosmic ray test stand, and operated for about 24 hours.

#### 3.3.1 HBU test with cosmic rays

Since the HBUs are fully assembled at this stage, and the system of scintillator tile, reflective foil wrapping and SiPM is complete, the detector response to MIPs can be determined in the cosmic ray test stand. In addition a gain measurement can be performed with the LED system, allowing a first determination of the *light yield*, the MIP response in units of SiPM pixels (see also section 5).

A dedicated test stand for the tests of HBUs with assembled tiles with cosmic rays has been built [56]. The test stand has two trigger layers with an area of  $365.0 \times 361.8 \text{ mm}^2$  of scintillator strips read out by classical photomultipliers, rotated by 90° to each other. They provide a position resolution of the size of an AHCAL tile. The total height between the two trigger layers is adjustable

up to 50 cm, allowing several HBUs to be stacked between them and to be read out in parallel. The setup is located in a dark box with temperature monitoring.

In total, 155 HBUs were measured in the test stand, most of them with 4 boards operated in parallel. In addition to the two HBUs already rejected in the functional tests with LEDs, three boards were not measured due to smaller effects that could be repaired later. For the first four tested HBUs, a mistake in the electronics assembly was found and corrected.

The 155 HBUs were characterised in terms of gain and light yield for each channel. The overall gain and light yield were found to be very homogeneous: the gain spread within an ASIC was 1.7%. The light yield mean value was 14 pixels per MIP with an RMS of 12%. The light yield measured for each cell was used as an initial calibration. Only 13 of the 22, 300 tested channels showed an anomalous behaviour (noisy, dead or low light yield), corresponding to about 0.05% of the total number of channels.

#### 4 Assembly and commissioning

The assembly and commissioning of the AHCAL technological prototype occured in steps: first, the modules were assembled, consisting of four HBUs and their interface boards in their cassettes. The modules are fully functional detector units, and they were tested individually with LED light. They were also tested in batches with cosmic rays and in beam tests at DESY. In this step, their final operating parameters were fixed. In a second step, the complete prototype including cooling was assembled, and exposed to cosmic rays.

#### 4.1 Module assembly and commissioning

Four HBUs with SiPMs with the same operating voltage, a CIB with DIF, POWER and CALIB mezzanines and a SIB were assembled into a module (see figure 7). These modules were kept in their respective configuration, no re-arrangement of components was done. The assembled modules were connected to a small DAQ system and tested with LEDs. Afterwards, they were installed in horizontal position in a dedicated test stand for cosmic rays [61], that also provided position information with a few mm resolution, using a scintillator hodoscope constructed by the University of Tokyo. The last step in the module commissioning was a preliminary calibration performed in the DESY test beam facility with electrons of 3 GeV. Without additional absorber plates, up to five modules (including cassettes) could be calibrated in parallel, with the electrons penetrating all modules as quasi-MIPs.

In the commissioning procedure, a number of operating parameters were fixed.

**SiPM bias voltage** First, the POWER board was configured for the SiPM operating voltage corresponding to an over-voltage of 5 V at 25 °C. All SiPMs in a module were operated with the same voltage. Therefore, the input DACs of the SPIROC2E ASICs were all set to the same value. A value of 50 was chosen for the SPIROC2E input DACs, corresponding to a voltage decrease of 3.7 V. In this region the input DACs show a small channel-to-channel variation, and the value allows adjustments in positive and negative direction. In order to compensate for this decrease, the POWER boards were configured to provide a bias voltage of 8.7 V above the breakdown voltage of the SiPMs in the corresponding module.



72 cm

**Figure 7.** Photo of one AHCAL module consisting of 2×2 inter-connected HBUs and the front end electronics (right side) comprising from top to bottom a SIB and a CIB with POWER, CALIB and DIF mezzanines.

- ASIC gain The preamplifier capacitances were optimised for clearly visible Single Pixel Spectra (SPS) at low amplitudes and coverage of the full dynamic range of the SiPMs at high amplitudes. This led to 600 fF in the high gain branch and 1200 fF in the low gain branch for all modules, corresponding to a factor of about 20 in gain between the two.
- **hold time** The hold time was tuned with beam particles such that the pulse is sampled close to its maximum. Since the optimal hold time strongly depends on the signal shape, it can only be determined with signals from particles producing scintillation light. One parameter determines the hold time for all channels of the SPIROC2E. The same parameter value was found to be adequate for all ASICs.
- **auto-gain threshold** The threshold for switching between the high gain and the low gain mode was chosen around 5 MIP. This is well within the ADC range for the high gain mode, taking into account a non-linearity observed in the upper part of the ADC range in high gain mode, and a rather wide threshold behaviour of the gain switching, leading sometimes to high gain mode results for amplitudes well above the nominal auto-gain threshold.
- **trigger threshold** The trigger threshold was chosen as low as possible for a stable operation of many layers. Since the value is applied on the ADC scale, and the gain varies from channel to channel, the resulting threshold on the MIP scale also varies from channel to channel. The observed threshold values were around 0.25 0.3 MIP.
- **LED calibration voltages** The calibration voltage at which the LEDs start to emit light varies from channel to channel, both due to variations in the LED circuit and due to device to device variations. For an efficient cross check of the calibration, it is important to obtain analysable SPS for a large fraction of all channels with a small number of calibration voltages. It was found that three LED calibration voltages were sufficient to measure analysable SPS in about

95% of all channels. These are used to monitor variations of the gain during data taking. The gain calibration used in the data analysis (see section 5.2) is determined in extended calibration runs with more LED voltages.

#### 4.2 Prototype assembly and test with cosmic rays

After the successful commissioning of all modules, they were installed in the absorber stack. Based on the results from tests of the individual modules, the few modules showing dead channels were placed in the back. The modules were installed and connected to the DAQ one by one, making sure at each step that installed layers were showing LED signals in external trigger mode. The main difficulty in this step are the flex-lead connections<sup>1</sup> that sometimes mechanically disconnect and require a removal and re-installation of a module.

In this configuration, the LED calibration procedure was tuned to run with all layers in parallel. In addition, the full detector was operated in self-triggered mode for about 20 hours. The detector was running stably during that time. Even though the active layers were in a vertical position and no further external trigger signal was available, events caused by cosmic rays could clearly be identified. This shows the very good quality of the detector in terms of noise and efficiency and the excellent uniformity of the SiPMs.

#### 5 Calibration

The goal of the calibration procedure presented here is to convert the measurement from electronics units to a physics scale: for the amplitude measurement from ADC bins to the energy deposition of a MIP, and for the time measurement from TDC bins to nanoseconds. This equalises the response of all cells, and allows a prediction of the detector response to electromagnetic and hadronic showers.

All measured energies are converted from the ADC scale to the MIP scale, according to

$$E_i[\text{MIP}] = \frac{(A_i[\text{ADC}] - Ped_i[\text{ADC}]) \times IC_i}{MIP_i} \times f_{\text{sat},i}^{-1}(A_i[\text{pixel}]) \quad \text{with}$$
(5.1)

$$A_i[\text{pixel}] = \frac{(A_i[\text{ADC}] - Ped_i[\text{ADC}]) \times IC_i}{Gain_i}.$$
(5.2)

Here  $A_i$  [ADC] is the measured amplitude in units of ADC bins for cell *i*,  $Ped_i$  [ADC] the corresponding pedestal,  $IC_i$  the inter-calibration factor between the low gain and the high gain mode, and  $MIP_i$  is a conversion factor of ADC bins into MIPs. The function  $f_{\text{sat,i}}$  is the SiPM response function describing the SiPM output signal as a function of the incoming light intensity, normalised such that f = 1 for small A. The inverse correction function depends on the number of fired pixels,  $A_i$  [pixel], calculated with the conversion factor of ADC bins into units of a single avalanche in a SiPM pixel,  $Gain_i$ .

The MIP conversion factor  $MIP_i$  of each cell is determined using the approximately minimum ionizing muons, while the conversion factor to pixels  $Gain_i$  is extracted from externally triggered LED runs. For each data taking mode, the corresponding pedestals are extracted from runs with the same conditions. The gain inter-calibration factor  $IC_i$  is measured in runs in which the hit time information was dropped, and the amplitude was read out in high gain and in low gain mode

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>For long-term operation in a collider detector, these connections would be sealed.

(*inter-calibration mode*). This is then used to convert low gain amplitude measurements into high gain units. All numbers in the following quoted in ADC bins refer to the high gain mode.

The values expected from the construction and commissioning are: about 15 pixels fired for a MIP crossing a tile and a gain:  $Gain_i \approx 16$  ADC bins per pixel, leading to a MIP conversion factor:  $MIP_i \approx 240$  ADC bins.

In the following, each element of the amplitude calibration is discussed in further detail. At the end of the section, the calibration of the hit time measurement is described.

#### 5.1 Pedestal and noise

The pedestal value enters not only the measurement of every cell energy, but also the determination of the MIP conversion factor for each cell. Therefore, its accuracy impacts the precision of the energy scale of the detector, and has to be very small compared to the  $MIP_i$  value.

The pedestal and noise values depend on the mode in which the SPIROC2E is operated, therefore they have to be determined in the mode corresponding to the data taking. Due to the analog storage of the data in *memory cells* before the digitisation, the pedestal values depend not only on the channel, but also on the memory cell number. For the AHCAL prototype with 38 layers, this leads to  $38 \times 576 \times 16 = 350,208$  pedestal values per mode.

The default beam operation mode for the prototype is the self-triggered auto-gain mode. In this mode, the information for all channels is digitised and read out if at least one channel has a signal above the trigger threshold. In muon runs, where typically only one channel in an ASIC has a hit, the remaining channels can be used for the determination of the pedestals. To cover all memory cells, the beam rate has to be high enough to fill all 16 slots. This method is used for the amplitudes measured with high gain in auto-gain mode.

The high gain pedestal values are typically around 530 ADC bins, with a channel-to-channel spread (RMS) of about 33 ADC bins. The spread of about 9 ADC bins between memory cells of the same channel is significantly smaller, but not negligible compared to a MIP conversion factor of  $\approx 240$  ADC bins. For memory cells 0 to 8, narrow pedestal distributions with a width of 3.5 to 4 ADC bins are observed, with very little indication of SiPM noise. For the higher memory cells, outliers are observed in the pedestal distribution, leading to large RMS values and shifted means. Therefore, we chose to apply a memory-cell-wise pedestal correction only for memory cells up to 8, while we use the mean pedestal determined from memory cells 0 to 8 for memory cells 9 to 15 of the same channel. While the cause has not yet been identified, it has been checked carefully in the muon data as well as with charge injection on a test board that no such outliers are observed in the amplitudes of channels above the trigger threshold.

It turned out that the method used for the high gain pedestals cannot be used to determine the pedestal for amplitudes measured with low gain since it leads to biased values. In data taken in inter-calibration mode, the most probable ADC value for muon signals was found to be lower than the ADC value in events without hits. Therefore, a method was developed to calculate the low gain pedestal from the muon signals measured with high gain and low gain in inter-calibration runs, using the inter-calibration factor determined from LED data. In addition, a correction for differences in the pedestal values observed for high gain between auto-gain and inter-calibration runs is applied.

The low gain pedestals determined with this method are on average 16 ADC bins lower than the value we would have obtained with the method used for the high gain pedestals. It has been cross

checked with electron data that the used pedestal values lead to a smooth transition between the high gain and the low gain range in the hit energy spectra (see figure 8).



**Figure 8.** Example of the low amplitude region of the reconstructed hit energy spectrum for all cells in a 100 GeV electron run taken in auto-gain mode. The amplitudes measured in high gain mode are indicated in red, while those measured in low gain mode are shown in green. The sum of both distributions (blue) shows a smooth transition.

The pedestals in external trigger mode were obtained in LED calibration runs with the LED voltage set to 0 mV. No outliers were observed in these distributions, so individual values were determined and used for all memory cells. The high gain pedestal values in external trigger mode are typically around 500 ADC bins, with a channel-to-channel spread of about 32 ADC bins. The width of the pedestal distribution is around 4 ADC bins, in agreement with the values obtained for self-triggered events.

#### 5.2 Gain calibration

The conversion factor from ADC bins to pixels  $Gain_i$  corresponds to the charge produced by a single avalanche in the SiPM, measured in ADC bins by the SPIROC2E readout ASIC, so it is the product of the SiPM gain (in electrons per avalanche) and the ASIC gain (in ADC per electron). It is therefore not directly comparable to the gain values quoted and measured for the SiPMs alone, but is an important quantity for the calibration and the monitoring of the detector in several ways: as described above, it is needed to convert the measured amplitude from ADC bins to pixels in order to apply the correction for SiPM non-linearity. Together with the MIP conversion factor  $MIP_i$ , it is used to determine the *light yield*, the MIP response in units of SiPM pixels. In addition, it can be used to easily monitor the uniformity and stability of the detector, since it can be determined from short LED runs. While for the determination of the calibration constants long LED runs with many different LED voltages were used, the monitoring was performed with daily runs with only three LED voltages, measured in roughly half an hour.

The gain is determined from single pixel spectra obtained by illuminating the SiPMs with short pulses of LED light. An example spectrum is shown in figure 9(a), clearly showing the individual pixel peaks. It was obtained after correction of the memory-cell-wise shift of the pedestal. For each channel, the distribution is fitted with the sum of several Gaussian functions, in which the

distance between adjacent peaks, corresponding to the gain, is constrained to be the same for all peaks, whereas the amplitude and the width of each peak is left as free parameter. The mean gain is about 16 ADC bins per pixel, with a channel-to-channel spread in the complete prototype of 1.1 ADC bins per pixel. This spread has a large contribution from the gain spread between ASICs. Channels within an ASIC show on average a spread of only 0.24 ADC bins per pixel (1.5%). This is consistent with the value of 1.7% measured on the individual HBUs (section 3.3.1) and average spread within a batch of 1.8% measured in the SiPM sample tests (section 3.1.1). The influence of the ASIC is also visible in the distribution of the gains within a layer (figure 9(b)), with a clear pattern caused by the 16 ASICs. In the long LED runs, the gain could be determined for typically 98% of all channels. For the remaining channels, the average of the corresponding ASIC is used.



**Figure 9.** (a) Example of a single pixel spectrum with the fit with the sum of several Gaussian functions. p1 and p2 correspond to the gain and the position of the first peak, while the remaining fit parameters are the heights and widths of the individual peaks (see text). (b) Example of the distribution of the gain in a layer. I and J are integers representing the position of a channel in the layer.

#### 5.3 Gain inter-calibration

Since the auto-gain mode is usually used in beam measurements, the inter-calibration factor  $IC_i$  is needed to convert the energy of large amplitudes measured with low gain to the same scale as the amplitudes measured with high gain. In principle, both beam data and LED data taken in inter-calibration mode can be used to determine this factor. Due to the larger statistics and the difficulties to extract the low gain pedestal in self-triggered beam data, we used externally triggered LED data. The inter-calibration factor can be extracted in the amplitude range where both the high gain and the low gain are within the linear ADC range. In addition, one has to take into account that the SPIROC2E ASIC shows a shift of the pedestal if the total charge measured on the ASIC is large. This is the case for LED data at large calibration voltages, since many channels have a large signal then. We use two methods for the determination of the inter-calibration factor: (1) fitting the curve of the high gain response as a function of the low gain response in a large range of calibration voltages and (2) using the high gain and low gain amplitude differences between two LED runs with a small



**Figure 10.** A typical MIP Spectrum for one channel after pedestal subtraction. The blue histogram shows the data, while the red line indicates the fit with the convolution of a Landau distribution and a Gaussian function (full line: fit range, dotted line: extrapolation). For a small number of events the ASIC triggers even though the hit amplitude is below the trigger threshold at  $\approx 60$  ADC counts.

difference in calibration voltage. We prefer method (2) since it minimises the influence of the pedestal shift. For about 10,000 channels in which both methods work well, on average a shift of 0.4% is observed between the values obtained with the two methods, with a spread of 2%. For about 80% of all channels the inter-calibration factor could be determined with method (2), with a mean value of about 19.5 and a channel-to-channel spread of around 4%. For the other channels this mean value is used. It is slightly lower than the value of 20 expected from the ratio of the preamplifier capacitances.

#### 5.4 MIP calibration

The MIP conversion factors  $MIP_i$  of each cell is extracted using the most probable response to the approximately minimum ionizing muons. A typical MIP spectrum is shown in figure 10. The calibration of each cell is accomplished with muons from a beam that has a broad spatial distribution in order to minimise the number of detector positions needed to cover the entire front face of the AHCAL. A minimum of 1,000 muon events per channel is required to obtain a reliable fit to the pulse height spectrum. In practice, we aimed to have at least 10,000 events per channel, since also the pedestals are extracted from the same data, for which a sufficient number of events in the higher memory cells is needed. During the beam tests at the CERN Super Proton Synchrotron (see section 6.1), muon beams with energies of 40 GeV and 120 GeV were used. For the 40 GeV muon beam, we scanned 17 positions with  $\approx 500,000$  events per position, corresponding to about one hour per position (with 2 spills of 4.5 seconds length within a cycle of about 30 seconds). For the narrower 120 GeV muon beam, we collected  $\approx 150,000$  events each at 49 positions, leading to a similar amount of running time.

In the analysis of the muon data, no event or hit selection is applied except the coincidence with an external trigger scintillator already applied in the online event building. Due to the low SiPM noise and the clean muon beam, this results in clean MIP signals for nearly all channels. After a memory-cell wise pedestal subtraction, the resulting ADC spectra are fitted with the convolution of a Landau distribution and a Gaussian function. The broadening of the Landau distribution, which leads to the need of the convolution with a Gaussian, is to a large extent caused by the statistical fluctuations of the small number of detected photo-electrons for a MIP, which is about 14 for the AHCAL. We define the value of the MIP conversion factors  $MIP_i$  as the most probable value (MPV) of the convoluted function. The broadening leads to a shift of the MPV of the convolution with respect to the MPV of the Landau distribution. However, the fitted parameter values of the Landau and the Gaussian show large correlations, while the MPV of the convoluted function is more stable than the MPV of the Landau distribution.

For more than 99.9% of all channels, good fits could be obtained. Of the remaining 19 channels, 6 were dead, while the other channels showed no clear MIP peak or the fit failed for other reasons. These channels are ignored later in the offline analysis. The mean MIP conversion factor is 218 ADC bins, with a channel-to-channel spread of 14%.

From the MIP conversion factor and the gain, the light yield *LY* is determined for each channel as  $LY_i = MIP_i/Gain_i$ . The light yield is a property of the system of scintillator tile and SiPM, while the influence of the ASIC and the SiPM gain is removed. The mean light yield of 13.8 pixels per MIP (see figure 11) is slightly lower than the planned value of 15, but well within the range for a stable and efficient detector. The light yield has a spread of 1.6 pixels per MIP, corresponding to 12%. The fact that the light yield spread is smaller than the spread of the MIP conversion factors shows that the spread of the ASIC gain and of the SiPM gain contribute considerably to the MIP spread. In the light yield distributions within a layer (figure 11(b)), no clear pattern of the ASICs is visible.



**Figure 11.** (a) Light yield distribution. (b) Example of the distribution of the light yield in a layer. I and J are integers representing the position of a channel in the layer.

#### 5.5 Time calibration

The measured hit times in units of TDC bins are converted to nanoseconds, according to

$$T_i[\text{ns}] = TDCSlope_i \left[\frac{\text{ns}}{\text{TDC}}\right] \times T_i[\text{TDC}] + TDCOffset_i[\text{ns}] - T_{trigger}[\text{ns}].$$
(5.3)

In this equation  $TDCSlope_i[\frac{ns}{TDC}]$  is the slope of the linear TDC voltage ramp in units of  $\frac{ns}{TDC}$  for cell *i*,  $TDCOffset_i[ns]$  is the corresponding offset of the TDC voltage ramp in [ns],  $T_i[TDC]$  is the

measured hit time in units of TDC and  $T_{trigger}$  [ns] is the trigger time measured by the BIF. The slope and offset parameters are obtained in the time calibration procedure by plotting the trigger time against the TDC values of the hits and fitting a linear function to the data. As explained in section 2.3, the TDC ramp switches direction from one bunch crossing to the next, so the calibration has to be done for both directions. Since most of the measurements have been performed with a 250 kHz bunch clock, the time calibration is discussed for this setting.

Similar to the MIP calibration, minimum ionizing muons covering the front face of the AHCAL are used for calibration. Within one event, all measured hit times of a muon traversing the detector are related to a single trigger time, therefore the propagation time of the muon is calibrated out. The slope of the TDC is common to all channels on the same ASIC, while the offsets are obtained for every memory cell to account for tolerances and signal propagation within the ASIC. Additionally, the offsets are shifted depending on the direction of the TDC slope. Hence, the calibration consists of two slope values per ASIC and two offset values per memory cell.

The calibration requires at least 30 hits per memory cell to perform the linear fit. With this procedure, consistent slope and offset values throughout the AHCAL are obtained and about 93% of the channels are calibrated. The resulting slope parameters lie around  $\pm 1.2 \text{ ns}/\text{TDC}$  with a spread of 10% and 8%, depending on the bunch crossing parity. After the conversion of TDC bins to nanoseconds, a time walk correction is applied to account for energy-signal dependent shifts of the hit time. In the analysis of the time resolution for MIP tracks, the events in a range of 500 ns around the transition to the next bunch crossing are rejected to avoid non-linearities in the TDC ramp. Furthermore, only events with one hit per layer are accepted since the time measurement gets distorted with rising ASIC occupancy, an effect observed already for previous versions of the ASIC [62].

#### 6 Test beam experience

#### 6.1 Test beam setup at CERN

The AHCAL technological prototype was operated in three beam test periods in the H2 beam line at the CERN Super Proton Synchrotron beam test facility during the year 2018.

During the first two weeks of beam time in May 2018, the prototype was equipped with  $38 \mod 3 \mod 2 \mod 3$  cm<sup>2</sup> scintillator tiles produced according to the scalable construction procedures described in section 3. They were installed in the first 38 gaps of the absorber structure. The coincidence of two external trigger scintillators in the beam line was used as a reference for event building. Four delay wire chambers provided a track position. The prototype was installed on a table movable in both directions perpendicular to the beam direction (x-y table) to allow a scan of the complete detector with muons. Photos of the setup are shown in figure 12. It was operated with and without power pulsing, enabling a direct comparison between the two modes. All data were taken with temperature compensation (see section 2.5). The prototype was exposed to negative muon, electron and negative pion beams. In order to monitor the stability of the MIP calibration, muons were collected at the beginning and the end of the data taking, with energies of 40 and 120 GeV. Electrons with energies between 10 and 100 GeV and pions between 10 and 160 GeV were measured. In order to determine the gain inter-calibration factors, for some runs the hit time information was dropped, and the amplitude was read out in high gain and in low gain modes.



**Figure 12.** Photos of the assembled prototype: (a) Overview of the setup on the x-y-table in the H2 beam line at the CERN Super Proton Synchrotron. (b) Close-up of the interface boards sticking out of the absorber.

For the second beam period of one week in June 2018, one module with  $6 \times 6 \text{ cm}^2$  scintillator tiles was added. It was installed in the 38<sup>th</sup> absorber gap, and the module previously installed there was moved to the 41<sup>st</sup> gap. In addition, the setup was extended by a *pre-shower* layer consisting of one HBU in front of the prototype, and a *tail catcher* behind it. The tail catcher consisted of twelve layers of one HBU each between absorbers of 7.4 cm thick steel. These HBUs were equipped with older SiPMs and some of them with a different tile geometry. The tail catcher was read out with a second wing-LDA which was fully integrated into the AHCAL DAQ. The complete setup was installed on the x-y-table. Since the experience in May had been positive, all data were taken with power pulsing as well as temperature compensation. Muons of 40 GeV energy, positrons between 10 and 100 GeV and negative pions between 10 and 200 GeV were measured. Due to improved beam steering, impurities observed in May for electrons and low energy pions could be reduced.

In October 2018, the AHCAL prototype with 39 layers was operated together with the prototype for the silicon part of the CMS HGCAL [63, 64] for two weeks. Due to the size of the complete setup, it had to be installed on a fixed platform. Since the AHCAL prototype was placed behind the HGCAL prototype with a thickness of about 5 nuclear interaction lengths, only muons and the tails of hadron showers reached the AHCAL. The synchronisation of the two prototypes was implemented in EUDAQ2. The data taking rate was limited by the HGCAL prototype to about 50 events per second, resulting in about 2.5 million events in the AHCAL prototype.

During the five weeks of beam time and additional time of LED and cosmics data taking before, the DAQ operated reliably. In total  $\sim$  93 million beam events were collected.

#### 6.2 Detector stability

The stability of the detector operation was monitored in several ways: during a testbeam period, short LED runs were recorded daily, allowing the stability of the pedestal as well as the gain to be monitored on short time scales. Long LED runs in inter-calibration mode as well as muon data runs were recorded in all three testbeam periods, such that the long-term stability of the gain, the inter-calibration factor and the MIP calibration factor could also be monitored.

The pedestal values were found to be stable on short and long time scales, they are consistent between all three testbeam periods. The stability of the gain, the inter-calibration factors and the MIP calibration factors between the beam test periods was excellent: the gain showed a mean shift of significantly less than a percent and a channel-by-channel spread of the shift of around 1%; the inter-calibration factors showed a mean ratio of 1.00 and a channel-to-channel spread of 2.3%; the MIP calibration factors showed a mean shift of 1% with a spread of 2.7% between May and June 2018.

The daily LED runs were used to monitor the dependence of the gain on the temperature. Since the electronics within the absorber structure is not cooled directly, the average temperature of the prototype varies slowly with time. After a warm-up phase in the beginning, a day-night variation of the order of one degree is observed. The results for the temperature dependence of the gain [65] are shown in figure 13 for the beam period in October 2018. All gain values agree with each other to better than 1%, which is the expected accuracy due to the gain determination procedure and the granularity of the SiPM bias voltage adjustment.



**Figure 13.** (a) Temperature (red) and SiPM bias adjustment (blue) values and (b) Temperature (red) and Gain (blue) values during the October testbeam period.

#### 6.3 Comparison of MIP calibrations

During the construction and commissioning phase as well as during the testbeam periods, the MIP calibration factors were determined with several methods: after the tile assembly the individual HBUs were calibrated with cosmic rays; after the module assembly several modules (without absorber) were calibrated with cosmic rays and with non-showering electrons in the DESY testbeam facility; and during the testbeam at CERN beam muons were recorded. The MIP calibration factors from the DESY and the CERN beam tests are directly comparable, since they were recorded with consistent detector settings. The comparison is shown in figure 14. On average, the calibration factors determined from the electron beam at DESY are about 3% higher, with a spread of about 8%. This demonstrates that the extraction procedure of the MIP calibration factors is robust and can also be applied for non-showering electron data, and that the values determined during the detector commissioning from electron data provide a good initial calibration for the prototype.



**Figure 14.** (a) Comparison of the MIP calibration factors determined in the DESY beam test during commissioning (red) and during the first beam test at CERN (black). (b) Ratio of the MIP calibration factors determined in the two beam tests.

During the tile assembly, the cosmic rays were recorded with a different setting of the ASIC preamplifier capacitances from the later beam data. Therefore, only the light yield values are directly comparable. The comparison presented in figure 15 shows good agreement, with a mean shift of less than 2% and a spread of about 5%.



**Figure 15.** (a) Comparison of the light yield determined with cosmic rays after tile assembly (Mainz Cosmic Ray test stand, blue) and with muon data recorded during the first beam test at CERN (TestBeam, green). (b) Ratio of the light yield values. The blue histogram shows the data, while the red line indicates a Gaussian fit to the central part of the distribution.

#### 6.4 Time resolution

In order to measure the time resolution of a single channel, without the influence of the time reference used in the calibration of the hit time measurement, the time difference between two hits in pairs of subsequent layers is studied. The resulting distribution for the testbeam bunch clock frequency of 250 kHz (see section 2.3) is shown in figure 16(a). The Gaussian fitted to the data has a width of 2.6 ns, corresponding to a time resolution of 1.8 ns for the individual channel.

The hit time calibration procedure described in the previous section has also been applied for some test runs taken with the ILC mode bunch clock frequency of 5 MHz (see section 2.3). The parameters for the TDC slope are  $\pm 0.06$  ns/TDC, in agreement with a 20 times faster bunch clock frequency compared to the testbeam clock frequency. The corresponding distribution of the time difference for hit pairs is shown in figure 16(b), resulting in a single channel time resolution with this clock setting of 0.68 ns (derived from the core width of the time difference between two channels of 0.96 ns and assuming the same resolution for both channels). The performance of the time measurement does not change significantly when running in power pulsing mode, regardless of the bunch clock frequency. Since this time resolution is determined from channels on different ASICs in different layers, it includes all detector effects: the light production and propagation in the scintillator, the signal formation in the SiPM, ASIC effects as well as effects from the distribution of the clock signal to the ASICs. It demonstrates that the design goal of a time resolution of 1 ns has been reached.



**Figure 16.** (a) Time difference of hits in subsequent layers with slow bunch clock (testbeam mode). (b) Time difference of hits in subsequent layers with fast bunch clock (ILC mode). The blue histograms show the data, while the red lines indicate Gaussian fits (full line: fit range of mean  $\pm 1\sigma$ , dotted line: extrapolation). The fit parameters are given in the figure.

#### 6.5 Event displays

Figures 17 and 18 show three-dimensional views of events: figure 17 shows muons, one in a cosmic ray event recorded during the commissioning, causing a shower, and a typical beam muon. Figure 18 shows an electron shower and a pion showering in layer  $\approx 10$  after leaving a track-like signature in the layers before. These displays illustrate the excellent imaging capabilities of the AHCAL.

The detailed information provided by the AHCAL can be used to monitor not only the detector stability, but also beam parameters like the purity, already during data taking. An example of a distribution used regularly for this purpose is shown in figure 19 for an electron and a pion run with low contamination: for a given beam energy, electron showers show a narrow distribution in the number of hits and the center-of-gravity along the beam axis at a small detector depth, while hadron showers show a wider distribution in both quantities, with (on average) more hits and deeper centre-of-gravity than electrons. Muons usually do not shower, so have a number of hits close to the number of active layers, and a center-of-gravity close to the middle of the detector.



**Figure 17.** Examples of events recorded with the AHCAL technological prototype: (a) cosmic ray muon interacting inside the detector, (b) beam muon. The colours show hits in several amplitude ranges: green hits are in the range 0.5–1.65 MIP, yellow in the range 1.65–2.9 MIP, orange in the range 2.9–5.4 MIP, and red above 5.4 MIP.



**Figure 18.** Examples of events recorded with the AHCAL Technological Prototype: (a) 50 GeV electron, (b) 80 GeV pion. The colours show hits in several amplitude ranges: green hits are in the range 0.5–1.65 MIP, yellow in the range 1.65–2.9 MIP, orange in the range 2.9–5.4 MIP, and red above 5.4 MIP.

#### 7 Conclusion

We have constructed a highly granular 38-layer analog hadron calorimeter prototype consisting of steel absorber and scintillator tiles individually read out with directly coupled SiPMs. The focus of the design of the technological prototype lies on the scalability of the detector layout to a collider detector and the scalability of the production methods. The beam tests show a reliable operation



**Figure 19.** Distribution of the number of hits,  $N_{hit}$ , and the centre-of-gravity along the beam axis,  $CoG_Z$  for (a) a 60 GeV electron run and (b) a 60 GeV pion run with small contamination of other particle species.

of the prototype and the feasibility of the calibration procedures for a large number of readout channels. The detector shows very low noise and excellent uniformity of the response. Following the demonstration of the physics potential of a highly granular steel-scintillator hadron calorimeter with the earlier AHCAL physics prototype [12, 20–26], this is an important step towards the realization of the concept as hadron calorimeter in a collider detector. The individual hit time measurement with a resolution of better than 1 ns opens the way for future detailed studies of hadron shower development not only in space, but also in time.

#### Acknowledgments

We would like to thank the technicians and the engineers who contributed to the design and construction of the prototypes. We express our gratitude to the DESY and CERN laboratories for hosting our test beam experiments, and to their staff for the efficient accelerator operation and excellent support. Some of the measurements leading to these results have been performed at the Test Beam Facility at DESY Hamburg (Germany), a member of the Helmholtz Association (HGF). This work was supported by the FWO, Belgium; by the Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada; by the Ministry of Education, Youth and Sports of the Czech Republic; by the AIDA-2020 Advanced European Infrastructures for Detectors at Accelerators project, which has received funding from the European Union's Horizon 2020 Research and Innovation programme under Grant Agreement no. 654168; by the P2IO LabEx in the framework 'Investissements d'Avenir' managed by the French National Research Agency (ANR) under Grant Agreements ANR-10-LABX-0038 and ANR-11-IDEX-0003-01; by the Master Project CALICE of CNRS/IN2P3 France; by the Alexander von Humboldt Stiftung (AvH), Germany; by the Bundesministerium für Bildung und Forschung (BMBF), Germany, within the Verbundprojekt 05H2018 — R&D DETEKTOREN (Szintillatoren): R&D für künftige Szintillatorbasierte Detektoren (AHCAL); by the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (DFG, German Research Foundation), Germany, under Germany's Excellence Strategy, EXC 2121, Quantum Universe (390833306); by the Helmholtz-Gemeinschaft (HGF), Germany; by the I-CORE Program of the Planning and Budgeting Committee,

Israel; by the Nella and Leon Benoziyo Center for High Energy Physics, Israel; by the Israeli Science Foundation, Israel; by the JSPS KAKENHI Grant-in-Aid for Scientific Research (B) No. 17340071 and specially promoted research No. 223000002, Japan; by the National Research Foundation of Korea; by the Korea-EU cooperation programme of National Research Foundation of Korea, Grant Agreement 2014K1A3A7A03075053; by the Russian Ministry of Education and Science contracts 3.2989.2017 and 14.W03.31.0026; by the Spanish Ministry of Economy and Competitiveness FPA2014-53938-C3-R2 and Grant MDM-2015-0509; by the Science and Technology Facilities Council, U.K.; by the US Department of Energy; by the National Science Foundation of the United States of America, and by the Nuclear Physics, Particle Physics, Astrophysics and Cosmology Initiative, a Laboratory Directed Research, U.S.A.

#### References

- [1] J. Brau et al., International Linear Collider reference design report. 1: Executive summary. 2: Physics at the ILC. 3: Accelerator. 4: Detectors, Tech. Rep., ILC-REPORT-2007-001 (2007).
- [2] M. Aicheler et al., A Multi-TeV Linear Collider Based on CLIC Technology: CLIC Conceptual Design Report, Tech. Rep., CERN-2012-007, CERN, Geneva (2012).
- [3] L. Linssen et al., *Physics and Detectors at CLIC: CLIC Conceptual Design Report*, Tech. Rep. CERN-2012-003, CERN, Geneva (2012).
- [4] P. Lebrun, L. Linssen, A. Lucaci-Timoce, D. Schulte, F. Simon, S. Stapnes et al., *The CLIC Programme: Towards a Staged e+e- Linear Collider Exploring the Terascale: CLIC Conceptual Design Report*, Tech. Rep., CERN-2012-005, CERN, Geneva (2012).
- [5] CLIC, CLICDP collaboration, Updated baseline for a staged Compact Linear Collider, Tech. Rep., CERN-2016-004, CERN, Geneva (2016).
- [6] FCC collaboration, FCC-ee: The Lepton Collider: Future Circular Collider Conceptual Design Report Volume 2, Eur. Phys. J. ST 228 (2019) 261.
- [7] CEPC STUDY GROUP collaboration, CEPC Conceptual Design Report: Volume 1 Accelerator, Tech. Rep., IHEP-CEPC-DR-2018-01 (2018) [arXiv:1809.00285].
- [8] CEPC STUDY GROUP collaboration, CEPC Conceptual Design Report: Volume 2 Physics & Detector, Tech. Rep., IHEP-CEPC-DR-2018-02 (2018) [arXiv:1811.10545].
- [9] M.A. Thomson, Particle Flow Calorimetry and the PandoraPFA Algorithm, Nucl. Instrum. Meth. A 611 (2009) 25 [arXiv:0907.3577].
- [10] J.-C. Brient and H. Videau, *The Calorimetry at the future e+ e- linear collider*, eConf C010630 (2001) E3047 [hep-ex/0202004].
- [11] V.L. Morgunov, Calorimetry design with energy-flow concept (imaging detector for high-energy physics), in Proceedings of the 10<sup>th</sup> International Conference on Calorimetry in High Energy Physics, Pasadena, CA, U.S.A., 25–29 March 2002, pp. 70–84, .
- [12] CALICE collaboration, Construction and Commissioning of the CALICE Analog Hadron Calorimeter Prototype, 2010 JINST 5 P05004 [arXiv:1003.2662].
- [13] CMS collaboration, *The Phase-2 Upgrade of the CMS Endcap Calorimeter*, Tech. Rep., CERN-LHCC-2017-023, CERN, Geneva (2017).

- [14] LINEAR COLLIDER ILD CONCEPT GROUP collaboration, The International Large Detector: Letter of Intent, Tech. Rep., FERMILAB-LOI-2010-03, FERMILAB, Batavia, IL (2010) [arXiv:1006.3396].
- [15] ILC collaboration, ILC Reference Design Report Volume 4 Detectors, Tech. Rep., FERMILAB-DESIGN-2007-02, FERMILAB, Batavia, IL (2007), [arXiv:0712.2356].
- [16] ILD CONCEPT GROUP collaboration, International Large Detector: Interim Design Report, Tech. Rep., DESY-20-034, DESY, Hamburg (2020) [arXiv:2003.01116].
- [17] H. Aihara et al., SiD Letter of Intent, Tech. Rep., SLAC-R-989, SLAC, Menlo Park, CA (2009) [arXiv:0911.0006].
- [18] CLICDP collaboration, CLICdet: The post-CDR CLIC detector model, Tech. Rep., CLICdp-Note-2017-001, CERN, Geneva (2017).
- [19] CLICDP collaboration, A detector for CLIC: main parameters and performance, Tech. Rep., CLICdp-Note-2018-005, CERN, Geneva (2018).
- [20] CALICE collaboration, *Electromagnetic response of a highly granular hadronic calorimeter*, 2011 *JINST* **6** P04003 [arXiv:1012.4343].
- [21] CALICE collaboration, Hadronic energy resolution of a highly granular scintillator-steel hadron calorimeter using software compensation techniques, 2012 JINST 7 P09017 [arXiv:1207.4210].
- [22] CALICE collaboration, Track segments in hadronic showers in a highly granular scintillator-steel hadron calorimeter, 2013 JINST 8 P09001 [arXiv:1305.7027].
- [23] CALICE collaboration, Validation of GEANT4 Monte Carlo Models with a Highly Granular Scintillator-Steel Hadron Calorimeter, 2013 JINST 8 07005 [arXiv:1306.3037].
- [24] CALICE collaboration, Pion and proton showers in the CALICE scintillator-steel analogue hadron calorimeter, 2015 JINST 10 P04014 [arXiv:1412.2653].
- [25] CALICE collaboration, Hadron shower decomposition in the highly granular CALICE analogue hadron calorimeter, 2016 JINST 11 P06013 [arXiv:1602.08578].
- [26] CALICE collaboration, *Tests of a particle flow algorithm with CALICE test beam data*, 2011 *JINST* **6** P07005 [arXiv:1105.3417].
- [27] CALICE collaboration, Shower development of particles with momenta from 1 to 10 GeV in the CALICE Scintillator-Tungsten HCAL, 2014 JINST 9 P01004 [arXiv:1311.3505].
- [28] CALICE collaboration, Shower development of particles with momenta from 15 GeV to 150 GeV in the CALICE scintillator-tungsten hadronic calorimeter, 2015 JINST **10** P12006 [arXiv:1509.00617].
- [29] CALICE collaboration, Hadronic Energy Resolution of a Combined High Granularity Scintillator Calorimeter System, 2018 JINST 13 P12022 [arXiv:1809.03909].
- [30] F. Sefkow, A. White, K. Kawagoe, R. Pöschl and J. Repond, *Experimental Tests of Particle Flow Calorimetry*, *Rev. Mod. Phys.* 88 (2016) 015003 [arXiv:1507.05893].
- [31] CALICE collaboration, *The Time Structure of Hadronic Showers in highly granular Calorimeters with Tungsten and Steel Absorbers*, 2014 *JINST* **9** P07022 [arXiv:1404.6454].
- [32] H.L. Tran, K. Krüger, F. Sefkow, S. Green, J. Marshall, M. Thomson et al., Software compensation in Particle Flow reconstruction, Eur. Phys. J. C 77 (2017) 698 [arXiv:1705.10363].
- [33] K. Gadow, E. Garutti, P. Göttlicher, K. Kschioneck, B. Lutz, M. Reinecke et al., JRA3 Hadronic Calorimeter Technical Design Report, Tech. Rep., EUDET-Memo-2008-02, DESY, Hamburg (2008) [https://www.eudet.org/e26/e28/e615/e626/eudet-memo-2008-02.pdf].

- [34] G. Blazey et al., Directly Coupled Tiles as Elements of a Scintillator Calorimeter with MPPC Readout, Nucl. Instrum. Meth. A 605 (2009) 277.
- [35] F. Simon and C. Soldner, Uniformity Studies of Scintillator Tiles directly coupled to SiPMs for Imaging Calorimetry, Nucl. Instrum. Meth. A 620 (2010) 196 [arXiv:1001.4665].
- [36] Y. Liu, V. Büscher, J. Caudron, P. Chau, S. Krause, L. Masetti et al., A Design of Scintillator Tiles Read Out by Surface-Mounted SiPMs for a Future Hadron Calorimeter, in Proceedings of IEEE Nuclear Science Symposium and Medical Imaging Conference and 21<sup>st</sup> Symposium on Room-Temperature Semiconductor X-ray and Gamma-ray Detectors, Seattle, WA, U.S.A., 8-15 November 2015, pp. 1–4 [arXiv:1512.05900].
- [37] L.M.S. de Silva and F. Simon, *Effects of misalignment on response uniformity of SiPM-on-tile technology for highly granular calorimeters*, 2020 JINST **15** P06030 [arXiv:2004.05066].
- [38] 3M, 3M<sup>TM</sup> Enhanced Specular Reflector Films (3M<sup>TM</sup> ESR), https://multimedia.3m.com/mws/media/ 12450890/3m-enhanced-specular-reflector-films-3m-esr-tech-data-sheet.pdf.
- [39] Hamamatsu Photonics K.K., *Datasheet MPPC S13360 series*, https://www.hamamatsu.com/resources/pdf/ssd/s13360\_series\_kapd1052e.pdf.
- [40] M. Bouchel, S. Callier, F. Dulucq, J. Fleury, J.J. Jaeger, C. de La Taille et al., SPIROC (SiPM Integrated Read-Out Chip): Dedicated very front-end electronics for an ILC prototype hadronic calorimeter with SiPM read-out, 2011 JINST 6 C01098.
- [41] Hamamatsu Photonics K.K., Datasheet MPPC S13615 series, https://www.hamamatsu.com/resources/pdf/ssd/s13615\_series\_kapd1062e.pdf.
- [42] M.J. Goodrick et al., Development of a modular and scalable data acquisition system for calorimeters at a linear collider, 2011 JINST 6 P10011 [arXiv:1106.5863].
- [43] T. Christian, *Power Pulsing Studies of an Extended Analogue Hadron Calorimeter Layer*, BSc thesis, Universität Heidelberg (2019).
- [44] C. Combaret, M. Reinecke and K. Krüger, *Definition of optical and electrical coupling of readout*, interface functionality and DIF design, Tech. Rep., AIDA-2020-MS58, CERN, Geneva (2017).
- [45] Xilinx, Zynq-7000 SoCs, https://www.xilinx.com/products/silicon-devices/soc/zynq-7000.html.
- [46] Xilinx, Kintex-7 FPGA family, https://www.xilinx.com/products/silicon-devices/fpga/kintex-7.html.
- [47] D. Cussans et al., *AIDA Mini TLU*, Open Hardware Repository, https://ohwr.org/projects/fmc-mtlu/wiki/aida-mini-tlu.
- [48] P. Baesso, D. Cussans and J. Goldstein, *The AIDA-2020 TLU: a flexible trigger logic unit for test beam facilities*, 2019 *JINST* **14** P09019 [arXiv:2005.00310].
- [49] CALICE collaboration, Towards a full scale prototype of the CALICE Tile hadron calorimeter, in Proceedings of IEEE Nuclear Science Symposium and Medical Imaging Conference, Valencia, Spain, 23–29 October 2011, pp. 1171–1176.
- [50] W-IE-NE-R Power Electronics, GmbH, *MPOD Universal Low and High Voltage Power Supply System*, http://www.wiener-d.com/sc/power-supplies/mpod-lvhv/.
- [51] Y. Liu et al., *EUDAQ2 A flexible data acquisition software framework for common test beams*, 2019 *JINST* **14** P10033 [arXiv:1907.10600].
- [52] F. Gaede, T. Behnke, N. Graf and T. Johnson, *LCIO: A Persistency framework for linear collider simulation studies*, eConf C0303241 (2003) TUKT001 [physics/0306114].

- [53] R. Ete and A. Pingault, *DQM4hep A generic data quality monitoring framework for HEP, EPJ Web Conf.* **214** (2019) 05036.
- [54] K. Gadow, E. Garutti, P. Göttlicher, M. Reinecke and F. Sefkow, *HCAL mechanical design and electronics integration*, Tech. Rep., EUDET-Report-2009-07, DESY, Germany (2009) [https://www.eudet.org/e26/e27/e71571/eudet-report-09-07.pdf].
- [55] Uniplast, http://uniplast-vladimir.com.
- [56] P. Chau, N. van der Kolk and K. Briggl, Specification of systems for highly granular scintillator tests, Tech. Rep., AIDA-2020-MS13, CERN, Geneva (2016).
- [57] M. Dorn, T. Harion, W. Shen, G. Sidlauskas and H.C. Schultz-Coulon, KLauS: A charge readout and fast discrimination chip for silicon photomultipliers, 2012 JINST 7 C01008.
- [58] Y. Munwes, P. Chau and F. Simon, *Performance of test infrastructure for highly granular optical readout*, Tech. Rep., AIDA-2020-D14.2, CERN, Geneva (2018).
- [59] B. Hallgren, H. Boterenbrood, H.J. Burckhart and H. Kvedalen, *The embedded local monitor board* (*ELMB*) in the LHC front-end I/O control system, in Proceedings of the 7<sup>th</sup> Workshop on Electronics for LHC Experiments, Stockholm, Sweden, 10–14 September 2001, pp. 325–330, .
- [60] T. Wagner and H.-G. Lipinski, *IJBlob: An ImageJ library for connected component analysis and shape analysis, J. Open Res. Softw.* 1 (2013) e6.
- [61] S. Kobayashi, J. Kvasnicka, L. Liu, W. Ootani, T. Torimaru and N. Tsuji, Scintillator Hodoscope with a Few Millimeter Position Resolution for Cosmic-ray Test Stand, JPS Conf. Proc. 27 (2019) 012009.
- [62] E. Brianne, *Time development of hadronic showers in a Highly Granular Analog Hadron Calorimeter*, Ph.D. thesis, Hamburg Uinversity, Hamburg, Germany (2018)
   [https://doi.org/10.3204/PUBDB-2018-02769].
- [63] CMS HGCAL collaboration, *Construction and commissioning of CMS CE prototype silicon modules*, 2021 *JINST* **16** T04002 [arXiv:2012.06336].
- [64] CMS HGCAL collaboration, The DAQ system of the 12,000 channel CMS high granularity calorimeter prototype, 2021 JINST 16 T04001 [arXiv:2012.03876].
- [65] Y. Sudo, Characterisation and temperature stabilisation of a system with 22000 MPPCs, talk given at the 5<sup>th</sup> International Workshop on New Photo-Detectors, Tokyo, Japan, 27–29 November 2018, https://indico.ipmu.jp/event/166/contributions/2796/.